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The Committee met at 10.00 a.m.

(((
PRESENT

The Hon. R. D. Dyer (Chair)

The Hon. P. J. Breen

The Hon. J. Hatzistergos

The Hon. J. F. Ryan

RODNEY GLENN TOWNEY, Chairperson, New South Wales Aboriginal Land Council, 33 Argyle Street, Parramatta,

RHONDA MARION JACOBSEN, Legal Officer, New South Wales Aboriginal Land Council, 33 Argyle Street, Parramatta, and

ISOBELLA PATRICE FERGUSON, Legal Officer, New South Wales Aboriginal Land Council, 33 Argyle Street, Parramatta, affirmed and examined:

CHAIR: Mr Towney, in what capacity are you appearing before the Committee?

Mr TOWNEY: As the Chairperson of the New South Wales Aboriginal Land Council.

CHAIR: I indicate that we are awaiting the arrival of formal summonses. However, I can assure you that you will be served with a summons before you leave. Are you conversant with the terms of reference for this inquiry?

Mr TOWNEY: Yes I am.

CHAIR: The land council has made a written submission. Is it your wish that that submission be included as part of your sworn evidence?

Mr TOWNEY: Yes.

CHAIR: Ms Jacobsen, in what capacity are you appearing before the Committee?

Ms JACOBSEN: As a legal officer with the New South Wales Aboriginal Land Council.

CHAIR: Are you conversant with the terms of reference for this inquiry?

Ms JACOBSEN: Yes I am.

CHAIR: As I mentioned a moment ago, the land council has made a written submission. Is it your wish that that be included as part of your sworn evidence?

Ms JACOBSEN: Yes it is.

CHAIR: Ms Ferguson, in what capacity are you appearing before the Committee?

Ms FERGUSON: As a legal officer for the land council.

CHAIR: I remind both of you that a summons will be forthcoming. Are you conversant with the terms of reference for this inquiry?

Ms FERGUSON: Yes I am.

CHAIR: The land council has made a written submission. I take it that you are happy for that to be included as part of your sworn evidence?

Ms FERGUSON: Yes.

CHAIR: Mr Towney, I invite you to make a brief oral submission to the Committee arising out of the written submission that the land council has made to us.

Mr TOWNEY: I will take the opportunity to make a preliminary comment and allow Ms Jacobsen and Ms Ferguson to address your specific questions. I will also take this opportunity to introduce Councillor Graf, Secretary of the New South Wales Aboriginal Land Council, who is here to observe today. Allow me to begin by acknowledging with respect the traditional custodians of the land we are on, the Gadigal people of the Eora nation, for it is on behalf of the Eora and the other Aboriginal nations of New South Wales that the New South Wales Aboriginal land Council is here before you today.

The New South Wales Aboriginal land Council [NSWALC] is a non-government entity comprising a network of 13 regional areas with an elected councillor representing each area and 118 local Aboriginal land councils to which the members of the relevant community belong. In addition to the principal function of administering the Aboriginal Land Rights Act and being the State native title representative body, NSWALC is a peak body for the Aboriginal people of New South Wales and on behalf of the network undertakes an active role of representing the views of our people as an NGO in international forums and in national activities and forums such as this.

As the Committee may be aware, the highest population of Aboriginal people in any Australian State or Territory resides within New South Wales. Indeed, the most populated Aboriginal community is in the western suburbs of Sydney. The indigenous population of New South Wales, according to the 1996 census, was 109,900, which is 28.5 per cent of the total indigenous population. I must add that NSWALC is of the strongest opinion that the census figures are much lower than the actual number of Aboriginal people in this State who identify as Aboriginal people and access, and indeed rely on, Aboriginal specific services.

It is an undeniable fact that the indigenous people of Australia are the most vulnerable, and continue to be the most disadvantaged, members of society. The level of Aboriginal social and economic well-being is an appalling blight on this nation. A relatively recent report by the Council on the Cost of Government provides some recent New South Wales statistics. The life expectancy of Aboriginal people is up to 20 to 25 years less than that of non-indigenous Australians. Aboriginal people suffer a range of medical problems. The most devastating for New South Wales people are kidney disease, renal failure, asthma, diabetes, high blood pressure and, among our youth in particular, ear and hearing problems.

The unemployment rate across the general population is 6 to 7 per cent, whereas sadly in some Aboriginal communities it is 85 to 90 per cent. A national picture of Aboriginal disadvantage and marginalisation can be drawn from the 1996 census. To demonstrate my point, I will highlight a few of the statistics for the indigenous people of Australia, who comprise 2.1 per cent of the total population. We are more likely than any other Australians to live outside urban areas. Indigenous adults were less likely than non-indigenous adults to have a post school educational qualification. The median weekly income was lower for indigenous males and females than for their non-indigenous counterparts. Indigenous people are also much less likely than other Australians to own their home than other Australian households.

Indigenous children are overrepresented in the juvenile justice system, with about 40 per cent of children in corrective institutions for children. Indigenous adults are more likely than non-indigenous adults to have contact with legal and correctional services, with almost 19 per cent of the adult prison population in 1997 being identified as indigenous. The imprisonment rate for indigenous adults was more than 14 times that for non-indigenous adults.

The level of our participation in formal political structures is equally abysmal, with a select number of bodies being recognised as representing the diverse and complex issues of indigenous people, and only two Aboriginal people holding a position in the Federal Parliament in its 100-year history, which the broader population is proudly celebrating this year. It cannot celebrate the protection of what many consider to be their inherent rights. Not one State or Territory adequately protects the rights of any of its citizens, and indigenous people are particularly vulnerable to the violation of rights than any other group of people in this country. The Aboriginal people of this State have been subjected to the policies and practices of disposition, dislocation, disassociation, protection and assimilation.

Not more than two weeks ago the New South Wales shadow Attorney General, Mr Chris Hartcher, proposed to impose minimum jails sentences for repeat offenders—a system of mandatory sentencing. The evidence from both the Northern Territory and Western Australia, where the current Premier is promising to extend the system of mandatory sentencing as part of his election platform, shows that Aboriginal people are overwhelmingly caught in the system. Only this morning Mr Borbidge, that Queensland Opposition leader, said that if he is elected to government in Queensland this year he will introduce mandatory sentencing in that State. Even without mandatory sentencing in New South Wales, Aboriginal people are overwhelmingly in contact with the criminal justice system.

Aboriginal people are currently gaoled at 15 to 16 times the rate of non-indigenous Australians. In 1997-98, 11.3 per cent of Aboriginal people were refused bail in local courts, compared to only 4.5 per cent of non-indigenous people. In September 1999 Aboriginal women in full-time custody represented 23 per cent of the total female inmate population. Most telling is that during the period 1990 to 1998—bearing in mind that this is after the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody—there was an increase of 33.8 per cent for Aboriginal deaths in custody in New South Wales. Given the overrepresentation of Aboriginal people in custody in every State and Territory and the corresponding overrepresentation of Aboriginal deaths in custody, Mr Hartcher's proposal is more than an extended method in criminalising our people. For some, it would be a literal death sentence.

That such a proposal can come from a State whose Government was the first to offer an apology following the "Bringing them home" report, which has robustly embraced reconciliation, is a frightening reawakening to the reality that Aboriginal people in New South Wales will forever be in a precarious position until fundamental human rights are enacted by government.

The bill of rights in New South Wales will not correct 200 years of disadvantage. It will not of itself prevent Aboriginal people suffering the detriment of ill-conceived policies and practices. But a bill of rights at a very minimum would provide the benchmark of standards of government policies and it would provide a much-needed mechanism to ensure the proposals of mandatory sentencing, assimilation and other abhorrent policies are never enacted in New South Wales. In the absence of adequate protection from the Federal Government, it lies to the State and Territories to uphold and enact those rights. Through this very process the New South Wales Government is in a position right now to lead the nation to define its national character as one that respects and protects the rights of its people.

CHAIR: I thank the Aboriginal Land Council sincerely for the time and trouble it has taken to prepare a submission to assist the Committee in connection with this inquiry into a bill of rights. In your submission you say there is a real need to protect fundamental rights from the exercise of arbitrary power. Does that mean it is your view that the existing common law, and statute law for that matter, does not protect your community from the exercise of arbitrary power?

Ms JACOBSEN: Some of the policies and practices that Mr Towney articulated in the opening statement indicate that we have been subjected to arbitrary exercises of powers. We see the bill of rights as an opportunity for the community to articulate its values and those rights it considers to be fundamental and properly protected. Indeed, there is legislation that is already enacted in State and Federal parliaments that we do not believe adequately protects our rights. So, we see that the bill of rights would give us the protection that we require.

CHAIR: What form of a bill of rights is favoured by the Aboriginal Land Council? I indicate that such bills of rights can range from an entrenched Bill of Rights, such as the United States of America Constitution; through to the Canadian Bill of Rights, which is also entrenched, although it was not in the first place; the British Bill of Rights, which was fairly recently enacted and sometimes is called a fortified statutory Bill of Rights; and the New Zealand Bill of Rights could be described as an unfortified or statutory Bill of Rights capable of ordinary amendment. I gain the impression from the submission that you want some form of entrenchment or at least to have it made difficult to amend. Could you tell me what you have in mind?

Ms JACOBSEN: Ultimately we argue for the bill of rights to be constitutionally entrenched. However, we recognise that there is value in the process of having it firstly enacted as a piece of legislation allowing the nature of the rights to be finetuned on the ground and to accommodate instances as they may occur. Particular periods of time might require that the rights be amended to suit a particular time—for example, in times of war or in times of sport. With the Olympics not far behind us, we enacted specific legislation restricting movement of people for public safety and national reasons.

CHAIR: Are you saying in the first instance you would prefer it to be a statutory bill of rights before any further firm measures by way of entrenchment?

Ms JACOBSEN: We acknowledge the value of having it as a legislative instrument in the first instance, yes.

CHAIR: Many people would say it always ought to remain a statutory bill of rights capable of ready amendment to keep up to date with contemporary conditions. Many people would say that the United States Constitution is a very clear example of the difficulties that arise when an instrument is enacted many centuries ago with provisions that were seen to be appropriate then but the language used and provisions made, given the passage of time, certainly are less appropriate now than they once were, such as the constitutional right to bear arms. What do you say about the problems that flow from entrenchment?

Ms JACOBSEN: Indeed there has been a considerable passage of time since the American Bill of Rights has been enacted. Australia is in a position to benefit from the experience of other nations exploring what fundamental rights are, in particular from international forums and the participation of nations in that forum to articulate those rights. We accept that technological and other developments in the future may affect the nature or the application of some of those rights or how those rights are realised, but NSWALC believes that there are fundamental rights that future technology will not necessarily change. However, we accept that having it in the first instance as a legislated instrument gives us the opportunity to tease out some of those issues and finetune those rights.

CHAIR: What do you say about the argument that even with a statutory bill of rights, if there is a specification, for example, of the right to free speech, that it is all very well to specify that as a right, but free speech, as we all know, is cut down by countervailing considerations such as the defamation law and racial vilification law, to give two examples.

Ms JACOBSEN: Throughout our submission we have advocated that we turned to international instruments to look for some of our rights, but we are not advocating a wholesale transplantation of those rights. Indeed, we recognise that there are probably few rights that can be absolute and that it would be tempered in the bill that it would recognise that freedom of speech is not an absolute right but that it must be qualified with defamation and discrimination and all those other rights. It is very similar to the right to work. It would not necessarily be an absolute right to have a job. It would need to be tempered by the person's level of responsibility et cetera.

CHAIR: You will be aware that at the moment there are statutes dealing with rights in one form or another—for example, the Commonwealth Racial Discrimination Act and the New South Wales Anti-Discrimination Act. Why do you say that is an insufficient solution or approach to the problem of rights? Arguably, might it not be better, taking your own area as an example, to have a statute dealing with your objectives and perhaps an advocacy body to seek to enforce that statute? Why is a generalised bill of rights preferable to perhaps a case-by-case approach?

Ms JACOBSEN: Indeed, in many instances those instruments have proven to be quite important for the upholding of rights, particularly for indigenous people. However, those instruments are directed to a particular subject matter. They are in disparate documents and precedence in law. We believe that a bill of rights is in fact an articulation of the values that society holds dear. We do not believe that every right necessarily be afforded its own legislation; it can stand alone in the bill of rights. We see also that in some instances as protective as those instruments are, they do not adequately protect indigenous peoples. For example, as I understand it, under the discrimination laws we are not protected as a group of people. It belies the very cultural or communal nature of indigenous society. It protects the individual but it does not protect Aboriginal people as a whole or as a group.

CHAIR: At the top of page 4 of the Aboriginal Land Council's submission are a number of dot points that seek to articulate various rights that, in your view, are specifically important to indigenous Australians. Is it not at least strongly arguable, given that those objectives affect your community in particular, that perhaps there ought to be a discrete statute dealing with those matters with enforcement provisions to which I have just referred rather than such particular provisions being contained in an overall rights documents affecting the populace of New South Wales as a whole?

Ms JACOBSEN: I think it would be ideal to have an instrument that articulates those rights, whether it be stand-alone or incorporated into a bill of rights. I think that the New South Wales Aboriginal Land Council [NSWALC] would be supportive of a stand-alone piece of legislation. We also acknowledge that it might not be appropriate for all of those rights to subsequently be in the bill of rights, but we also believe that we should not be left out of the bill of rights as being an identifiable group to be protected.

CHAIR: What do you say to the argument that, particularly in regard to economic and social rights—and I note that you advocate their inclusion in a bill of rights—that if that were to happen the judiciary would be placed in a position of virtually having a political, economic or social function judicialised. Shall we take as an example of the Aboriginal people of Toomelah, who undoubtedly lived and may still live in unsatisfactory conditions. If there were some guarantee upon which they sought to rely in litigation, and a court upheld their claim, it could well be responded that that supplants the role of the Legislature and the executive arm of government in determining what budgetary funds are devoted in a given year to solve particular problems in society—given that funds are undoubtedly finite.

Ms JACOBSEN: Yes, we acknowledge what you are saying. We believe that the process of getting rights articulated into the bill of rights would enable us to flesh out some of these issues; that it would not take from the legislature the powers that it has in relation to our economic, social and political mechanisms.

CHAIR: In a case such as I postulate—the people of Toomelah relying on a provision bearing on their economic, health or educational standing that may well be in a bill of rights—is it not reasonable to say that the role of the legislature could be supplanted given that a case would be mounted before a judge and that judge, in the event that he or she upheld that claim, could be said to be judicialising an essentially political function.

Ms JACOBSEN: I imagine that the rights would be articulated in such a fashion that it would limit the positive obligation that it would place on Parliament to actually fund the structures that are required to redress the problems at Toomelah, for example. There would be some level of interpretation that government is only able to provide so many services.

Ms FERGUSON: I might add that we recognise that it is definitely not the function of the judiciary to set benchmarks on what funds should be allocated to specific purposes. That is a policy decision that needs to be left to Parliament. But rights, such as the right to economic equality, can be defined in the bill of rights to be aspirational statements that the community aspires to and that Parliament recognises it can assist but does not have the positive obligation to respond to every one.

CHAIR: You are saying that such rights as might be defined, particularly in the economic and social area, would not necessarily be immediately enforceable in precise defined terms, but at least there is a light on the hill, to use an expression that has been used in another context, to which people can aspire.

Ms FERGUSON: Yes.

CHAIR: In relation to international instruments to which Australia is a party—such as the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the International Covenant on Economic, Cultural and Social Rights—do you believe it would be desirable, given that it is one of this Committee's terms of reference, to make an amendment to the New South Wales Interpretation Act to either entitle or oblige courts to consider the contents of international covenants to which Australia is a party.

Ms JACOBSEN: In our submission we are supportive of the court having the express capacity to refer to those instruments, but it is not something that we would require of the courts. We would not want to impinge on their judicial discretion.

CHAIR: Before we go on I believe that each of you has now been served with a summons. I believe I am at liberty to ask you each collectively: Have you received a summons issued under my hand in accordance with the provisions of the Parliamentary Evidence Act 1901?

Mr TOWNEY: Yes.

Ms JACOBSEN: Yes.

Ms FERGUSON: Yes.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: Where do you see indigenous law as falling within this proposed bill of rights? I note that the Law Reform Commission has recommended some recognition in the New South Wales legal system of indigenous Aboriginal law, particularly criminal law. Where do you see that as falling within this sort of framework?

Ms JACOBSEN: I am not familiar with that reference in the submission, so I cannot speak directly to what has been said there. In the specific rights we have identified we have made reference to traditional or customary laws. We would see that the common law of the State would be the superior law and that our customary law would be subordinate to it. That would be in the first instance, and that there is room to move and discuss the extent to which customary laws exist in New South Wales and the extent to which they might be recognised and allowed to be practised.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: We have seen instances in the Australian context where members of the indigenous community have gone overseas to articulate their rights to international tribunals. One could argue that that has been done because there is no mechanism within Australia to have those rights asserted and therefore there is a need to go to international tribunals where you have access to international covenants which can be analysed and your rights pronounced upon. One of the benefits of that to the indigenous community, of course, is that they internationalise the issue. In other words, by going overseas to those international tribunals, you get a presence that you would not have if the matter was dealt with in a domestic court.

If you had, however, a court which was able to examine, analyse and adjudicate upon the rights of your community would that replace the need for members of the Aboriginal community to go overseas to assert their rights? If it does would you see it as having the same impact? In other words, would it not be the case that you would lose the internationalisation and the publicity that you would get from going to those international tribunals?

Ms JACOBSEN: There are probably two threads in your question that I want to particularly take up. I do not believe that indigenous people go into the international arena just to publicise our situation. Ideally, we would like to be in a position to dialogue with the rest of the country so that we are not forced to have to take our issues overseas. I do not believe that a bill of rights would or should replace the right for us to access international forums as it would not replace the right for anybody else to access those forums. It would, however, place another step in the barrier of in fact getting to the international courts. To get there in the first instance you must exhaust all your local or domestic remedies. If we were to have a bill of rights, that would be another issue that would have to be addressed. I think in some respects it might even reduce it, but it certainly would not replace that right to go overseas, no.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: I was distracted a moment ago when Mr Hatzistergos was asking about the list of rights set out at the top of page four of your submission and I hope I do not ask a question that he might have asked. I am interested to know whether a provision like that, setting out those various rights, is appropriate to have in a bill of rights, given that the general application of bills of rights in other countries are to people in general and usually people who are living in that particular country. Those rights, on the other hand, are particular to Aboriginal people and define in great detail various aspects of Aboriginal culture. I suspect that Aden Ridgeway probably had a hand in listing them. There is a similar provision in a draft bill of rights in Queensland, for example. The reason I mention Aden Ridgeway is that he actually drafted the Queensland provision and it bears a striking similarity to this provision. But here, as in Queensland, the question is: Is it appropriate to have in a bill of rights these types if rights in relation to the Aboriginal community or any other community?

Ms JACOBSEN: Just to clarify where these points were drawn from, yes, some of them were drawn from the Queensland draft bill but some have also been drawn from the draft declaration for indigenous peoples. Aden did not have a specific hand in writing the submission. To now answer your question, it was put earlier would it not be appropriate for these rights to be articulated in an instrument unto itself. I think that would be highly desirable. I do not think, though, that that should preclude special recognition in a bill of rights. It may not incorporate all of these points we have raised here, but these are the things we hold dear and that are the essence of our culture. We would therefore at least want to have them on the table for discussion about inclusion in the bill.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: The Queensland draft bill separated economic and social rights from civil and political rights. The kind of evidence that the Committee has heard in relation to this inquiry would suggest that any bill of rights in New South Wales would be limited to civil and political rights. If that were the case, do you think that a general provision that, for example, said, "This bill acknowledges the rights of indigenous people in general terms" and that was in a bill rather than listing each particular item as this suggestion has it—would have a similar effect? Would it provide adequate protection for Aboriginal people in your opinion?

Ms JACOBSEN: I think that it would provide a level of protection but NSWALC would certainly look to have more than just civil and political rights list. We believe there are economic and social rights that can be appropriately framed to fit within the bill of rights. But, at a very minimum, NSWALC would accept that statement of principal, at its very minimum, should be included in the bill of rights.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: Again referring to Queensland, one of the ways that it overcame the problem of the judiciary becoming a legislature and making laws about funding questions was by using the word "access". So instead of saying "the right to education", or "the right to funding", or whatever purpose it might be, the word "access" was inserted. Would it be appropriate, in your opinion, if the provision in its widest sense were introduced in New South Wales in a bill of rights? If the word "access" was introduced do you think that would that limit the effectiveness of the provision?

Ms JACOBSEN: I think that there needs to be some tempering. We accept that there has to be some tempering of those rights to force positive obligations on Parliament to meet all those needs. "Access" may well be the wording that gives the balance that would be required for all parties. What we have said fairly consistently throughout our submission is that a bill of rights would entail fairly intensive and extensive consultation with the community, not just the Aboriginal community but the broader community. I think that a lot of those issues could be put to the people and we could actually flesh that out. So our understanding of the way in which the language might be framed is that "access" would be an appropriate wording to ensure that those rights are able to be in the bill.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: Rather than not have them there at all?

Ms JACOBSEN: Rather than not have them there at all.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: Finally, there is a problem in some sections of the community, which I would call unenlightened sections of the community, in relation to providing what is seen as additional rights to groups such as Aboriginal people, whether in a bill of rights or elsewhere. That kind of legislation, according to perception, is unfair because the whole of the community does not have access to it. I think the arguments involved in that issue of affirmative action are well-known. But do you have any solution or any ideas about selling a bill of rights or a provision in a bill of rights that provides positive discrimination in favour of Aboriginal people to the rest of the community? Is there a simple solution?

Ms JACOBSEN: No, I do not think there is a simple solution. Despite all the best efforts in the world there will always be people that see equality as being an additional opportunity for people that they cannot access themselves. We will always confront that; we always have and we always will. I think that our best method for dealing with that is to reiterate that there can be no equality when inherent inequality exists. Mr Towney, in his opening address, gave us some statistics about our level of disadvantage. If we ever get to the point where our incarceration rates drop to be proportionate to our population, if our access to and our level of employment increase to something that is comparable to the rest of Australia, and if our babies can defy our infant mortality or morbidity rates to live to be healthy adults, then we can start to talk about equality. But how we safeguard that is I believe a constant reinforcement and something in the bill that articulates that in areas of inequality it is necessary to have, for want of a better phrase, special provisions.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: It is also a provision of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights that affirmative action is not discrimination.

Ms JACOBSEN: That is right.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: Despite that, people often see it that way.

Ms JACOBSEN: Also increasingly a feeling that the process of reconciliation has really raised the level of debate among the broader community with Aboriginal people and with themselves. I think that some of the issues that we have confronted, right up probably until last year in the culmination of the bridge walk, really demonstrated that people are prepared to dialogue and want to dialogue. They want to dialogue beyond the rhetoric and get to the very core facts. We may not come to consensus but we are at least in a position of being able to talk through these issues.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: People have said that one of the advantages of a bill of rights is that it would assist in creating better public understanding and a culture of understanding about rights. Do you agree with the proposition, as has been observed by some people who have appeared before this Committee, that individual rights are sometimes poorly understood by the wider community? Is it true that, within Aboriginal communities, there is gap between leaders and experts also in the understanding of the application of human rights? Could you suggest any strategy which might assist in breaching that gap, if you think one exists?

Ms JACOBSEN: NSWALC is of the strong opinion that that gap of knowledge does exist. Also, indigenous people perceive their rights quite differently. They perceive that they have inherent rights that non-indigenous people would not consider that they would have. There is a gap, and there are mechanisms to get over it. Information, education and consultation are always the key strategies for improving or increasing people's level of awareness. I think there are various mechanisms to do that. NSWALC, a peak body representing Aboriginal people, would clearly see a role in designing specific strategies in relation to the bill of rights—designing the strategies and indeed presenting some of these activities to our people to increase that dialogue—as, no doubt, would many other Aboriginal organisations. But these things cannot happen in a resource vacuum. So whilst we see the position, we are all also a tad hampered by resources to actually do that.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: If any bill of rights included a provision enabling indigenous people to revise, maintain and develop their cultural characteristics and so on, it would be fair to say that Aboriginal culture is not one homogenous unit. It is a tapestry of a wide variety of different cultures. How do you propose that we should define what is Aboriginal culture and what someone might be claiming as Aboriginal culture but which has no legitimate attachment to Aboriginal culture at all? How would we define that?

Ms JACOBSEN: I guess the question is: To what extent need it be defined? Who, in fact, participates in the defining of Aboriginal culture?

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: There may be some cultural practice, for example a legal or traditional law or something. There might be a community which might claim that something is a particular cultural practice, which it may not be. It might be inimical to the aspirations of other members of the Australian community and in fact Aboriginal people themselves. Whilst other bills of rights do not normally refer to protecting things such as culture there is a definitional problem once the issue of culture is introduced. I am wondering what practical measures might be implemented to make that definition?

Ms JACOBSEN: In the absence of self-determination and self-government and our capacity to manage our affairs seriously by ourselves within specific confines—geographical or otherwise—we must necessarily be subject to the broader common law and practices of society.

Mr TOWNEY: The definition of "culture", as with the definition of "Aboriginal", has to come from the Aboriginal community itself. It has to come from our people, rather than white lawyers, white schoolteachers, white people in Parliament saying, "This is it. This is our view. You must accept it." It has to come from the grass roots people within our communities, through that dialogue process.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: My final question is not unrelated to some of the discussion that you have already had with my colleague the Hon. P. J. Breen. Various statements to this Committee by other people about bills of rights have indicated that among the provisions which might be included in a bill of rights are provisions, for example, that there be a right not to be discriminated against on the basis of race, religion, sexual preference, gender and so on. Are you not concerned that there might be a risk in having a provision like that in a bill of rights that might be used to strike down things such as affirmative action policies that governments have been able to pursue now with a measure of commonsense to address areas of equity?

Are you not concerned that there might be—just as has occurred in the American Constitution—provisions in bills of rights which are intended for one generation but which have an altogether different interpretation that was not intended by the founding fathers? The Australian Constitution possibly defines Federal powers much more broadly than the founding fathers might have intended and, similarly, the American bill of rights and so on. Do you believe that there might be a risk which undermines something which Aboriginal people have been able to gain to date?

Ms JACOBSEN: Earlier Mr Breen talked about a statement of principle or the actual structure of the language or the rights. But to articulate that, there are indeed instances and circumstances that require special measures. That tempers or goes towards interpreting what equality actually is.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: I am not asking whether you agree with affirmative action; I am asking whether you think that a bill of rights could be used to put affirmative action at risk. Do you see that as a potential threat arising from a bill of rights?

Ms FERGUSON: All I can add is that the answer might lie in the drafting. There has to be an overriding commonsense and rational interpretation to each right. If you have a right not to discriminate, surely that can be tempered to be used for specific positive measures that are for the benefit of or are in the public interest.

CHAIR: I ask a final question. I note that on page 6 of your submission you advocate a parliamentary scrutiny mechanism?

Ms JACOBSEN: Yes.

CHAIR: What would you say to the proposal that, arguably, this Committee could recommend a scrutiny of bills committee, possibly along the lines of the Australian Senate model, to scrutinise legislation as it comes forward against criteria that emanate from, shall we say, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights? Do you think that would be a useful mechanism? Before you respond, what do you mean in your submission when you refer to "full scrutiny by a parliamentary committee"?

Ms FERGUSON: The procedure that we outlined in our submission was to promote public scrutiny. When a new Act is going to be passed that may infringe the bill of rights we wanted to put a positive obligation on the Minister introducing the legislation to make a statement, I think similar to the UK model, that the legislation is consistent with the bill of rights. I think the committee model would be a positive step that New South Wales could adopt. I know that that is used federally. In New South Wales all we have is a committee that looks at the financial repercussions of each bill. Definitely a committee is a positive step. It allows recommendations to be made by a committee that can be passed to Parliament. If the Minister still wants that legislation to be passed, focus and debate are generated.

(The witnesses withdrew)

DESMOND BEDE WILLIAMS, Commissioner, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission, 28 Leticia Road, Fingal Head, and

CHRISTINE BARBARA WILLIAMS, Commissioner, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission, 60 Margaret Street, Sydney, sworn and examined:

CHAIR: Mr Williams, in what capacity are you appearing before the Committee?

Mr WILLIAMS: To place before you the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission's [ATSIC] position on the proposed New South Wales bill of rights.

CHAIR: Did you receive a summons issued under my hand in accordance with the provisions of the Parliamentary Evidence Act 1901?

Mr WILLIAMS: Yes.

CHAIR: Are you conversant with the terms of reference for this inquiry?

Mr WILLIAMS: Yes.

CHAIR: ATSIC has made a written submission to the Committee. Is it your wish that statement be included as part of your sworn evidence?

Mr WILLIAMS: Yes.

CHAIR: Mrs Williams, in what capacity are you appearing before the Committee?

Mrs WILLIAMS: As an ATSIC Commissioner.

CHAIR: Did you receive a summons issued under my hand in accordance with the provisions of the Parliamentary Evidence Act 1901?

Mrs WILLIAMS: Yes, I have.

CHAIR: Are you conversant with the terms of reference for this inquiry?

Mrs WILLIAMS: Yes.

CHAIR: ATSIC has made a written submission to the Committee. Is it your wish that statement be included as part of your sworn evidence?

Mrs WILLIAMS: Yes.

CHAIR: If either of you should consider at any stage during your evidence that in the public interest certain evidence or documents you may wish to present should be heard or seen only by the Committee, the Committee will be willing to accede to your request. Commissioners, thank you for agreeing to attend to give evidence to the Committee and thank you also for the ATSIC submission. I now invite you, Mr Williams, to make a brief opening submission.

Mr WILLIAMS: I welcome this opportunity for ATSIC to present its evidence. I will read from the statement. It is timely for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people to be able to discuss with government the issue of human rights and the means by which such rights may be best recognised and protected. There is currently debate at the national level about the need for and the form of a treaty or treaties that may exist between the indigenous peoples of this country and the various governments. That may encompass recognition and protection of some of those rights which have been set out in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. Today, however, we are talking about a bill of rights for New South Wales. I will restate the ATSIC position as set out in our submission.

The preferred long-term outcome is entrenchment of individual and group rights in the Federal Constitution. The reason is the Federal Constitution is the cornerstone on which the nation has been built and, as such, is found wanting. It does not address the rights and responsibilities that govern interaction between individual citizens and public and private bodies corporate. With that in mind, ATSIC supports the position taken by the New South Wales Aboriginal Land Council, but it is also of the view that at least until there has been some public and political evolution at a national level it is open to any of the States to take the lead. There are five issues I wish to speak to you about today. They are, firstly, that indigenous people cannot rely on the goodwill of government. Secondly, basic human rights are not currently protected in New South Wales. Thirdly, the cultural rights of indigenous people are not currently protected in New South Wales. Fourthly, indigenous people will benefit most from the education of the Parliament and the populace by reason of the public debate generated. Fifthly, private corporations must observe human rights.

As to the goodwill of government, ATSIC is of the view that should the State of New South Wales move to develop a bill of rights the interests of the general public and indigenous people would be best served initially by a legislative model. I realise that this does require a degree of faith in the sensitivity of the government of the day to the protests and lobbying by minority groups. But this sensitivity must be built upon and guided by a legislative framework. Indigenous people are not well serviced by the democratic process. We are too few in number to have any electoral power and not sufficiently resourced to strategically lobby on each issue. When push comes to shove, indigenous people's rights are invariably forgone in order to appease some interest group such as farmers, miners, developers, tourism operators, et cetera. The power of the British Parliament to override its bill of rights appears to provide the opportunity for public debate and that is what is needed to break down the barriers between indigenous and non-indigenous Australia. We have seen the public debate surrounding mandatory sentencing, compensation for stolen generations, native title and cultural rights. But these are the issues that have made it into the media.

Secondly, basic human rights: It may be the case the people in New South Wales believe we all have access to our human rights as a result of the Anti-Discrimination Act and Racial Discrimination Act, but people in this State do not have a recognised right to food and water, shelter, primary medical care and generally an adequate standard of living. There are people in New South Wales who do not have clean drinking water, functioning sewerage systems or adequate primary medical care or education. The third issue is indigenous cultural rights. Has there been any debate in the New South Wales Parliament regarding the school curriculum and the failure to provide education for indigenous children in traditional languages, as is their cultural right? Was the debate in the New South Wales Parliament during the passage of the Native Vegetation Conservation Act or the Water Management Act about the fundamental human right of all people to clean drinking water and the effect of increased dryland salinisation by reason of the legitimised clearing of grass and woodlands?

Did the debate in relation to the Fisheries Management Act amendments consider the cultural rights of indigenous people to fish as a human rights issue? Do the Cabinet minutes of the New South Wales Labor Government make provision for the analysis of human rights impact in respect of policy and budgetary decisions? I do not know the answers to those questions, but I expect the answers would be no to the majority, if not all, of those questions.

In New South Wales much can be done to protect community or group rights. Indigenous people in New South Wales cannot practise their customary law in relation to the management of crime. This is of some great concern to Aboriginal people in New South Wales. The royal commission into Aboriginal deaths in custody highlighted the failure of the criminal justice system to adequately cater for the indigenous people's needs. The Law Reform Commission made recommendations in its 1986 report about the need to provide for implementation of Aboriginal customary law. Little has been done to develop indigenous community-based justice systems. Indigenous people in New South Wales still do not have the right to make decisions about the significance and management of their cultural heritage, even though this right has long been recognised in the international arena and was the subject of clear recommendations by the Hon. Elizabeth Evatt in her report on the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders Protection Act 1984.

Education of Parliament and the public. I do not necessarily see this as the fault of the government or of any individual. It is the nature of the Westminster system that inevitably leads to the majority of our parliamentarians having come from privileged backgrounds, where there is no likelihood of contact with indigenous people. I believe that, as a group, parliamentarians genuinely want to see an end to the disparity between the social conditions of indigenous people and non-indigenous people. Life experience, or lack of it, determines how each feels the disparity can be best attacked. In this respect, parliamentarians are no different from ordinary Australians. Without exposure to a consideration of the issues that form the content of our human rights as citizens of this State or country, they will not recognised the transgressions of those rights.

Private corporations. With the advent of genetic technologies, intellectual property and agreements and supra national trade blocs, multinational corporations are poised to take ownership and control of everything that is capable of being patented. Just as people speculatively registered every conceivable Internet domain known, every conceivable derivation of our bioresources, such as bush foods and medicines, will be sought to be patented. There is nothing in our existing laws to protect indigenous peoples' recognised rights to the ownership of our traditional ecological knowledge, technologies and innovations.

The Committee has received evidence from a number of eminent academics and lawyers about the legal framework which a Bill of rights might take. I understand that evidence has been received from Dr Larissa Behrendt and Professor Garth Nettheim. Both people are infinitely more qualified than I to speak on the benefits of 1 model over another. That is not why I am here today. I am an elected representative of the indigenous people of New South Wales. I have an intimate knowledge and understanding of government policies and programs. It is in that regard that I invite you to make inquiries of me.

CHAIR: Could I indicate, in commencing the question period, that any question that I or my colleagues direct to you may be responded to by either or both of the sworn witnesses. You may refer to your advisers, but they may not actually respond to the questions themselves. Why do you say, as you do in your submission, "The experience of Canada suggests it is better to commence with a statutory instrument and, after time, consider a more rigid arrangement"? Some people would say that the United States Constitution is a very clear example of why there ought not be a rigid arrangement. This Committee is inquiring into a statutory bill of rights. New Zealand has a statutory bill of rights that may be amended by Parliament at any time. Suppose this Committee were to recommend that, and that were to be enacted, why would that be an insufficient response, in your view?

Mr WILLIAMS: In answering that, a number of statutes would have to be considered. I would like to call on my legal adviser.

CHAIR: He is not entitled to speak. He has to advise you.

Mr WILLIAMS: I can take that on notice and, if possible, return to that question.

CHAIR: It is possible to take the question on notice and to give the Committee a written response later on, if you prefer to do that.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: Just for clarification, Mr Chairman: Is it the position that the adviser cannot speak because no summons has been issued to the adviser?

CHAIR: The position is that ATSIC was invited to nominate its witnesses. There is absolutely no impediment to ATSIC putting forward any witness it wishes. It chose to put forward two witnesses, Mr Williams and Mrs Williams, who have been sworn in. That is not any part of the Committee's doing. The sworn witnesses have the right to refer to their advisers at any time before they respond. Further, if they are still uncertain as to what response they wish to give, they can, as I have just indicated, take the question on notice and furnish a written answer later on.

I am simply asking, Mr Williams, for some indication as to why you think it is insufficient to have a statutory bill along the lines of the New Zealand model. I understand that you have indicated you prefer to take that question on notice and give a fuller response later on.

Mr WILLIAMS: Yes. I am not fully familiar with the New Zealand Act, so I cannot make comparisons.

CHAIR: During your oral presentations a moment ago you said that the Aboriginal community has not, in your view, been well served by the democratic system. I would readily recognise that there are all sorts of deficits affecting Aboriginal people, so far as health, education, employment and other factors are concerned. However, I would also say that attempts have been made legislatively from time to time to advance the interests of your people. I will give one example only, for the sake of illustration. The Commonwealth Racial Discrimination Act was an endeavour to assist your people. Just in brief terms, why do you say that Aboriginal people have not been well served by the democratic system, the parliamentary system of democracy in Australia?

Mr WILLIAMS: The Racial Discrimination Act does not cover all the needs of our people and how governments can encroach on what Aboriginal people see as our customary rights. The enactment of legislation to stop our people from exercising our rights as hunters and gatherers in collecting shellfish and that type of thing, laws or statutes that are being enacted now, restrict, if not prohibit, us from exercising what we regard as our traditional rights in those areas.

CHAIR: Why is it a better solution to have a bill of rights than for the Commonwealth Parliament or the State Parliament, as the case may be, to enact specific pieces of legislation to address particular concerns? For example, there would be at least half a dozen statutes, probably more, both Commonwealth and State, that deal in various ways with rights. The Racial Discrimination Act of the Commonwealth and the Anti-Discrimination Act here in New South Wales are two examples. Both of those have advocacy bodies and enforcement mechanisms set up behind them to seek to promote the objectives of those statutes. Why, in your view, is it a better solution to have a more generalised bill of rights?

Mr WILLIAMS: A more generalised bill of rights would enhance the enactments of those statutes or laws. It would be a falling back position for indigenous people, for us to call on to show the goodwill of the government of the day. It would be a recognising point between the government of the day and indigenous people specifically.

CHAIR: Would it be part of your position that you would see the merit of a bill of rights being, amongst other things, that it would be aspirational— that is, that it would promote objectives that your people could aspire to and promote? Is that part of the reason that you support a bill of rights?

Mr WILLIAMS: There is that aspect of it, yes. It would be a recognising point from our people's point you. We would be able to address our needs under the bill of rights and, from there, under any specific legislation that might cover any particular problem that we might face at any particular time.

CHAIR: Australia is a party to certain international conventions, such as the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. What would you say to the idea that the Interpretation Act of this State should be amended so that courts would be either required or alternatively entitled to consider the provisions of those international covenants in deciding what legislation here means?

Mr WILLIAMS: The submission put forward by ATSIC recognises these implements, international implements, and the Bill of Rights would give full recognition of these. What you propose in your question could be enshrined in the Bill of Rights.

CHAIR: So, you would prefer a Bill of Rights rather than a mere amendment to the Interpretation Act such as I suggested?

Mr WILLIAMS: Yes.

CHAIR: What would you say to the argument that if there is a Bill of Rights that specifies in general terms a particular right such as, in the economic and social area the right to education or the right to a reasonable standard of living or the right to housing, that that transfers from Parliament to the courts what are essentially economic, social or political questions? Have you thought about that or do you have any views as to whether that is a legitimate thing for the courts to be doing?

Mr WILLIAMS: At the Federal level anything like that enshrined in the Constitution would be extremely advantageous for us. We would like this bill to exist in the New South Wales Parliament, where there is no Constitution, to nail it down, if you like. To put it simply, we would like this to exist along the lines our submission proposes in New South Wales. In the Federal sphere we would certainly like to see a Bill of Rights or something along those lines enshrined in the Constitution. 

CHAIR: So you are saying you would be quite happy if there was a Bill of Rights federally or in New South Wales? Is that what you are saying?

Mr WILLIAMS: No. We would certainly like to see our rights along these lines protected and enshrined in the Constitution, but in the meantime we would like a Bill of Rights enacted in New South Wales to protect our rights here in the State.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: Does ATSIC have any research or evidence it could give the Committee to indicate how bills of rights have been used to advance the interests of indigenous people in other countries? What lessons do you think Australia could learn from experiences overseas?

Mr WILLIAMS: We could take that question on notice and get back to you on that, but if you look at our submission you will see examples of enactments internationally that we have considered.

CHAIR: An example, I suppose, might be the Bill of Rights in Canada. That gives some rights to the native people in Canada. Is that what you have in mind?

Mr WILLIAMS: That is correct.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: I was wondering whether you had any further information as to whether in fact that had been useful. I accept that it is there. Are you aware of any specific use that the indigenous people in Canada have made of the provision?

Mr WILLIAMS: I do not have anything at the moment on that, but I imagine our situation here in New South Wales is unique to New South Wales. There may be parts of the content of their enactment that we could draw on but we would certainly put forward something that is generic to New South Wales rather than something that is overseas.

CHAIR: Mr Williams, we are quite happy for you to take that on notice and provide any further written input later if you wish to do that. 

Mr WILLIAMS: Thank you, Mr Chairman.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: Your submission makes reference to the need to protect the right to manage their own affairs—referring to the indigenous people—"the right to manage their own affairs to the greatest possible extent while enjoying all the rights over Australian citizens have in the political, economic and social and cultural life of New South Wales." Could you perhaps explain to me what exactly is meant by the term "manage their own affairs"? What affairs are you referring to? Are you referring to a whole regime of social security right through, or are you just referring to managing your cultural issues such as language and development of religion and land specifically owned by the Aboriginal community?

Mr WILLIAMS: In answering that question I would say to you that our cultural and traditional rights, as recognised by us, are the main reason for that. For example, the National Parks and Wildlife Service has almost full control of sacred sites in New South Wales. We have to consult it in some instances to visit these sites. We do not have rights to extract any income from these places if it is possible to do so. Uluru is a prime example of that.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: Not something that is in New South Wales, though.

Mr WILLIAMS: Well, we have in New South Wales cultural sites, significant sites, that are as significant to us as Uluru is to the people from that area. Full governance of these sites rests with the National Parks and Wildlife Service and it, out of goodwill, sometimes consult us in the management of these sites.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: I think there are some provisions in the Protection of the Environment Operations Act and the National Parks and Wildlife Service Act and, from memory, the endangered species protection Act, that make specific reference to rights of indigenous people. Are you able to supply us, perhaps, with some details as to exactly where those conflicts have occurred and are still occurring? It might be something you do on notice, but I am not aware of any specific issue where there has been a specific conflict that would require reference to a Bill of Rights.

Mr WILLIAMS: There again I would have to examine those Acts. But, in general terms, speaking from the community's point of view, we often find ourselves in conflict with legislation concerning our sacred sites. There are also fishing rights, that we find ourselves unable to pursue customs that have long been our recognised rights, the gathering of shellfish, as I say, and the putting in place of fishing licences.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: You have to pay now to exercise your right.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: My understanding is that under the Government's proposal, which is only at the discussion stage, the fisheries management protection Act, which introduced similar provisions to the endangered species protection Act and the preservation of the land Act, makes specific reference to indigenous people's rights to capture and kill animals for the purpose of cultural requirements but not commercial.

Mr WILLIAMS: That might be in the spirit of the Act but in actual fact our people run foul of the law in collecting native foods. It is this problem that we continually find ourselves in. It adds to the legal standing of individuals—people wind up with criminal records for collecting native foods.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: You seem, Mr Williams, to be dissatisfied with the democratic process and methods to resolve disagreements, and what you are proposing is to turn to another sphere of government, that is the judicial arm of government, to resolve those disagreements. What makes you more confident that you will be able to do it in that sphere as opposed to the political sphere, bearing in mind that experience, particularly in the United States, indicates that provisions in bills of rights that initially were designed to protect particular rights have ended up having the reverse impact when they got to the judiciary?

Mr WILLIAMS: The key issue in all of this is education, educating the general public and educating our people, in the legislative processes of this country. The debate that ensues around this particular issue will bring about, hopefully, much enlightenment, from a parliamentary point of view and certainly from the police authorities' point of view and our people's. This education, this enlightenment, will lead hopefully to much goodwill in people who advocate reform and that type of thing. It would go a long way to helping us maintain our culture and continue to live our culture without encroaching on and falling foul of the law as it stands today. That education could and would ensue from any activity that the Parliament takes or that is enacted in the courts.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: On the issue of the judicial arm of government as opposed to the Parliament, is it your experience that Aboriginal people get a better deal from judges than they do from politicians? Traditionally, judges look after people's rights; that has been the role of the judges in the Westminster system of government. However, there is an argument that judges are not as active in protecting rights as they used to be, so now the question arises of whether the politicians should be doing it.

Mr WILLIAMS: In the current atmosphere with land rights, native title and these issues that tend to promote Aboriginal rights, a number of judges and legal people, barristers, see the Aboriginal point as a legitimate point and a legitimate argument for promoting Aboriginal rights and indigenous rights.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: The judges in Mabo for example.

Mr WILLIAMS: Yes, and we welcome that political parties are bound by their political platforms.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: But is it not the case that after the Mabo and Wik decisions the Commonwealth Parliament then passed the Native Title Act and then amendments to the Native Title Act which actually diminished the rights of Aboriginal people, that took away some of the things that they got as a result of what the judges gave them? Is that not the position?

Mr WILLIAMS: That is right. I do not know whether I should say it but it is the devil you know rather than the devil you do not know. It depends on the goodwill of the government of the day.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: But if we had a bill of rights in place it would depend on more than the goodwill of the government; it would depend on the provisions of the bill of rights. Is that not the position?

Mr WILLIAMS: It would depend on what is inscribed in the bill of rights.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: For example, if there was a Commonwealth bill of rights in place when the Native Title Act was passed, the Native Title Act would not have been able to contravene the bill of rights unless there was some mechanism in the Act itself that said it could but that the bill of rights would prevail. It would be regarded by the judges as superior legislation that they should be bound by, even when the Parliament might pass an inconsistent law. Is that not the kind of protection that Aboriginal people would get in a bill of rights?

Mr WILLIAMS: If at the time of the Mabo decision and the ensuing Native Title Act Aboriginal rights were inscribed in the Constitution, then we would not have the fiasco we currently have in so far as the native title legislation.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: Do you regard the native title legislation as a fiasco?

Mr WILLIAMS: Yes I do. I do not know whether I should go too far into it but, rather than enhance our rights to claim what we believe is ours culturally and traditionally, it has blocked to a great degree our rights to those claims. That came about because of the will of the current Federal Government.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: Assuming you have an instance where the reverse applies—you have been to the courts to assert your rights and the courts have failed to uphold that assertion—do you then go back to the Legislature and ask it to overturn the courts? Is that an option that you want us to leave open?

Mr WILLIAMS: In pursuing any activity, you use the tools that you have at hand, and if you can gain advantage by using one over the other then you should do so. We believe that as citizens of the country it is our right to use whatever is available to us to pursue to our advantage what we see as our rights.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: Some might say that if you have lost in the courts, the umpire has spoken—

Mr WILLIAMS: I am quite sure that some people would say that.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: In your oral submission in the last item you mentioned I think you said that corporations must be bound by human rights. I was a bit concerned about that in the context of a bill of rights because a bill of rights is actually a bill of human rights. Whilst it is generally accepted that a bill of rights will bind government, I do not think—certainly, it is my experience—a bill of rights normally binds corporations. Can you explain that?

Mr WILLIAMS: In our experience Australian companies, in order to do business in foreign countries, readily observe the cultural rights that are upheld in those countries.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: But often they do not, too.

Mr WILLIAMS: Often they do not but they readily recognise that in order to get their foot into the other countries to do their business. What they do after they get that right to perform their particular business in those countries is sometimes deplorable.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: But it does depend on the countries having appropriate protections in place.

Mr WILLIAMS: Yes. Those countries allow them in because they recognise all of the rights that exist in those countries, including the indigenous rights of the local people. However, in this country they do not come to us. It is only since Mabo that corporate Australia has come to us, and they invariably get their right to mining and that type of thing through the goodwill of the government of the day, which is particularly favourable to them. Probably as an aside, they come to the indigenous people in a particular area where they want to operate and make a very shallow attempt at bringing the people in and saying, "Well, we have consulted with the people and everything is okay."

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: What you are saying is that if we had proper protections in place so that governments and corporations could not ride roughshod over indigenous people, then one of those protections might be a bill of rights or some other kind of human rights law. Is that what you are suggesting?

Mr WILLIAMS: That is right, yes.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: I give you the example of the Ok Tedi mine in Papua New Guinea: BHP went in and, contrary to the rights of the indigenous people, emptied the tailings dam into the Ok Tedi and Fly rivers. I do not know whether you are aware of the outcome of that case but the indigenous people—35,000 of them, I think—were awarded compensation on the basis of their right to equality in the Papua New Guinea Bill of Rights. Will it be your submission that similar protections do not exist in Australia? Is that what you are saying?

Mr WILLIAMS: That is right. The other legal arguments that we have only take us so far, but there are loopholes that companies use to get around those.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: But you were not suggesting though that a company be bound by a bill of rights as such. Did I misunderstood you when you said that?

Mr WILLIAMS: No. A bill of rights, as seen in our submission, is a general overriding document that allows governments and courts of the day to enact their rulings in conjunction with other Acts that are on the ground already.

CHAIR: Mrs Williams, I think you want to add something.

Mrs WILLIAMS: In relation to the bill of rights in New South Wales, I think it is vital that we have one, one reason being that I believe it is like a fall back position for us as indigenous people. We have nowhere to fall now. There is nothing in place. You can talk about Mabo and native title. You can tell us here in New South Wales where we are at with native title. When has there been a claim established and pushed forward? For the number of claims within this State, I think we have only one or two claims put through. All the courts can make all the decisions about Mabo and native title. When we get back to where we are here in New South Wales, we are getting nowhere. I believe that there should be a bill of rights in New South Wales, because it is the New South Wales Government that has done all the damage to us as indigenous people over the years. There should be something there for the protection of our people. I agree with my colleague and what was said earlier, but I just needed to say that we need to be able to say that this Government has done more damage to us than any other government in this country. I mean the New South Wales Government, irrespective of whether it is Labor or Liberal.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: I am supposed to be asking the questions and I agree with you.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: We were dealing with the issue of whether a bill of rights should impact on corporations, that is, government agencies but not the New South Wales Government. Is ATSIC comfortable with the proposition that that provision, if it applies to corporations, might also be used by other persons to take action against bodies such as ATSIC, land councils, the New South Wales Aboriginal Land Council and other corporations operated by indigenous people? Are you prepared to have your organisation submit to the same level of scrutiny by the courts if it is to be extended to corporations such as BHP and so on?

Mr WILLIAMS: If our Aboriginal organisations or indigenous organisations fall foul of the law then we come under the same jurisdiction as any company in this country or in this State. If an indigenous organisation is falling foul of human rights issues, I do not see why we should not be subject to this bill of rights as well.

(The witnesses withdrew)

ANNE BARBER, Manager, Unit 108/308 Riley Street, Surry Hills, and

JOAN MARGARET BIELSKI, Retired, 36 Milray Ave, Wollstonecraft, affirmed and examined:

CHAIR: In what capacity do you appear before the Committee?

Ms BIELSKI: As the secretary of Women into Politics.

Ms BARBER: As a member of the Women's Electoral Lobby.

CHAIR: Did you each receive a summons issued under my hand in accordance with the provisions of the Parliamentary Evidence Act?

Ms BARBER: Yes I did .

Ms BIELSKI: Yes I have.

CHAIR: Are you conversant with the terms of reference of this inquiry?

Ms BARBER: I am.

Ms BIELSKI: Yes.

CHAIR: Women into Politics and the Women's Electoral Lobby NSW has made a written submission to this inquiry. Is it your wish that that submission be included as part of your evidence?

Ms BARBER: Yes.

Ms BIELSKI: Correct.

CHAIR: I invite you each to make a statement to the Committee.

Ms BIELSKI: Women into Politics is a coalition of some 16 women's organisations in Sydney that began functioning in 1992 because we were concerned that women were underrepresented in our parliaments and in decision-making institutions in this country. I have brought a pamphlet for the information of the Committee which sets out our aims and objectives and some of the things we are doing.

CHAIR: Do you tender that pamphlet?

Ms BIELSKI: Yes. We felt presently that any rights women have have been won through Parliament and frequently through, shall we say, the gift of powerful men. Women were not included in the anti-discrimination or sex discrimination legislation. They were a minority in the parliaments and it is very hard to get your case put when you do not have informed advocates in the parliaments and places like that. So, that was our motivation. Since 1992 there has been considerable increase in the numbers of women in parliament. We made a submission to the political parties, which we refer to as our lead balloon because it was not welcomed. It was received and I believe it had the necessary effect. We are looking at women's rights in the round and we are concerned that a bill of rights is inclusive of women's rights. That is the gist of our submission.

Ms BARBER: The Women's Electoral Lobby is a feminist organisation concerned with women's rights not only political but social. Similar to Joan, we are concerned that during this discussion about whether or not New South Wales should have a bill of rights that it should not be assumed that male equals female. We want specific mention of female as well as indigenous groups because this is the mistake that has happened in the past. We have to make sure this time if we go down that path that women are specifically mentioned. We are hoping very strongly that the Committee will recommend that New South Wales go down the path of introducing a bill of rights. We appreciate the opportunity of being here and talking to the Committee.

CHAIR: In your submission you state that Australia has a hodgepodge collection of human rights legislation mainly non-discrimination, race and sex equality law, both Federal and State, complicated by our Federal system of government. Why do you choose to describe such human rights legislation that exists as a hodgepodge? What do you mean?

Ms BIELSKI: I suppose we mean they were brought in at different times. They have different impacts in different States. Sometimes they are different the Federal as against the State—for instance, often the exemptions negate the Act. Certain powerful people and organisations are exempt and, as I said, complicated by the Federal system in the sense that they are not always in line with one another. I think it was the Chief Justice of the Commonwealth and the Chief Justice of New South Wales said that our laws are not specific on some aspects of human rights, like free speech. The High Court found that we had only an implied right to free speech. No-one spoke about it before. Freedom of assembly seems to be quite easily abrogated when people are demonstrating against something a particular government dislikes. So, the circumstances again in each State differ because it is a police matter and a State matter as to what forms of expression you can have. Perhaps "hodgepodge" might be too strong.

Ms BARBER: Or not strong enough.

Ms BIELSKI: We would hope if New South Wales did go along the line of introducing a bill of rights that if it spread to the other States like anti-discrimination legislation that there be a big effort to make them complementary.

CHAIR: Some people would argue that it is quite a good thing to enact legislation to deal with particular problems in society. For example, at the Commonwealth level there is the Racial Discrimination Act that, as its name implies, deals with racial discrimination and that is of interest and assistance to the indigenous community. New South Wales has the Anti-Discrimination Act 1977, with which you no doubt would be very familiar. Why do you say that that is an insufficient approach? Are you arguing that in some way it is necessary to have a consolidated law in the form of a human rights Act?

Ms BIELSKI: Well, complementary laws by the States and the Commonwealth, but the legislation as exists—the sex discrimination Act and the New South Wales Anti-Discrimination Act—do not have overriding powers. So, the Parliament can at any time attack those. The Federal Government is presently attacking the marital status aspects of the sex discrimination Act when it proposes to pass legislation against IVF accessibility for lesbians.

A lot of people have views on IVF but the proposal they are putting forward does nothing to resolve that. It really attacks the marital status aspect of the Sex Discrimination Act. We are proposing that if you have a bill of rights it should have overriding qualities except in very exceptional, named or specific circumstances.

CHAIR: This Committee is inquiring into a statutory bill of rights that, by definition, would be capable of amendment by Parliament. However, I take it from what you have said that you would prefer an entrenched bill of rights. Am I correct in thinking that?

Ms BIELSKI: I would, but the law would probably go through an experimental period. Certainly federally I would like a constitutional bill of rights but, statewide, with the referendums as they are, I do not think that we would ever get that. A legislated bill of rights with overriding powers I think is as much as you can hope for. I would hope that Parliament, when passing the bill, would be very specific when it says what Parliament can do to amend it. We do not want the main thrust of the bill, like marital status, land rights or racial discrimination, to be amended—like the Wik legislation amended the ten point plan, which diminished indigenous peoples rights.

CHAIR: It is sometimes said by way of criticism of an entrenched bill of rights, such as that in the United States of America, that it was enacted in a particular period in history and some centuries later the words that are there have not kept up with changes over the years. There is still a provision there, to take one example, enshrining the right to bear arms. Many people would say that that is not particularly desirable, but within its own context it was put there for what seemed to be good reasons at the time. Would you agree with me that there are some dangers in an entrenched bill of rights, that it is unduly inflexible?

Ms BIELSKI: I suggest there are some dangers, but there are some dangers in not having one too.

Ms BARBER: I am having difficulty with the word "entrenched". I do not know if that is a legal term. I have heard "entrenched" used in a fairly derogatory way. I am not being rude about your word choice, but "entrenched" tends something that is set in stone, that is unthinking, that is very black and white. If we are talking legislation and a bill of rights there is always the difficulty over the fundamentalist view over this—this created biblical terms. You know, way back in the dark ages and we must now conform with the letter of the law rather than bringing something up to date.

I think in our submission we have been talking in terms that it can be changed but that the terms under which any legislation could be changed must be very carefully thought through. We are not saying entrenched can never be changed because if that is the way the Constitution or any bill of rights is read, we would be stuck with it forever and we would still be in our kitchens and not allowed to work or gain access to education.

Ms BIELSKI: The bill should be specific about when and how you can change it.

CHAIR: All I am suggesting to you is that there are various models of bills of rights. The United States of America has one. I am not necessarily using the word "entrenched" in a pejorative sense; I am merely saying that that is the constitutional bill of rights that America has and it is very rigid and very difficult to change.

Ms BARBER: I do not think we have come here with any fixed idea over what a bill of rights should look like. What we are saying is that because of the way women's rights, as opposed to human rights—they really should be the same but in Australia at the moment they are not—what we are looking for from a bill of rights is something that is going to enshrine for women the right to education, the right to choose the way they want to work. It is public access to the political system and we will make comment, as we did before, over the members of the Committee that are inquiring into the bill of rights. It is unfortunate that Jannelle cannot be here, but can men make decisions for women? We are saying we do not think so. This is what we are looking for from a bill of rights.

CHAIR: In our own defence might I say that Ms Saffin is a member of this Committee. She has the full right to attend, and for her own reasons, she happens not to be here today.

Ms BIELSKI: We are aware of the fact that the American bill of rights has problems for Australians. We are aware of the Canadian bill, I forget what it is called. Women in Canada were not very happy with it because it did not have in it the saving clauses which are in Article 4 of  the Convention on the Elimination of all forms of Discrimination Against Women [CEDAW] which allows for intermediary measures to encourage a substantive bill of rights. It is not beyond the constitutional lawyers to think up a bill that preserves rights but makes provision for minorities, for disadvantaged groups or specific groups for whom society has not always been shall we say fair.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: There seems to me to be some correlation between your position and what the ATSIC and Aboriginal Land Council people are saying, but I think there is a distinction that has to be drawn between being dissatisfied with the position on human rights at the moment—within that I include womens rights—and suggesting some improvement to those rights and, moving aside from that, working out how you are going to do it. You can have a bill of rights that in the letter may give you some form of protection but the outcome at the end of the day may not be much better if they are not interpreted and they are implied the way you feel they should be implied. The Chairman was asking about the particular model of protecting human rights, whether they should be in a constitution or in legislation or some form of charter. How is it that this declaration of human rights is going to take some form or shape in New South Wales?

Ms BARBER: We understood your terms of reference were for legislation, for a bill of rights, so that is the topic we were discussing. We did not believe we were talking constitutional matters.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: The question that was put to you was in those terms. Let me say this to you. If one were to have a legislative bill of rights which articulated the particular rights you feel women wish to have placed in legislation, and ultimately those matters would have to be interpreted by the courts if they are going to have any force. We have seen instances where the courts have taken a fairly conservative view, particularly in relation to womens rights in the past. Presumably that may continue to occur. What do you then do? Do you come back to Parliament and ask for further changes?

Ms BIELSKI: I am encouraged by the fact that the lawyers are carrying out education programs, not only for law students but for practising lawyers and even judges on issues of human rights, womens rights and Aboriginal rights. I would think they may well be ahead of the community. Secondly, I do not think it would be beyond the ability of Parliament to amend it when they see the flaws in it or when people point out those flaws to them. The law does evolve and a legislative bill allows that. It has the defect that a government can come in which is hostile to the idea and amend it but they have to do it in the full glare of public opinion. For that reason I would still want a bill of rights. The ability to oppose and make good noise is still there.

Ms BARBER: And to enforce. Another of the Committee's terms of reference or the question you asked when we put out submission together was the enforceability of it, penalties and what could apply. I think we addressed that in our submission. If you are going to have legislation surely whoever is drafting it would also have to consider penalties for non compliance.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: How is that different to lobbying for changes in any other law? If another law is applied in a way that is discriminatory to women you can lobby the political parties and members of Parliament to change the laws to reflect the particular stand point that you are supporting.

Ms BARBER: If you have got 500 years on your side you certainly can do all those things. The Womens Electoral Lobby has been in existence for 28 years. There have been quite a lot of social changes made in that time, but how long do they have to wait for equal opportunities and representation?

Ms BIELSKI: It is documented now that women have been lobbying for womens and childrens rights since the turn of the last century. One historian even said we were the creators of the welfare state. Well, we know that that is disappearing so we may well need a bill of rights even more than we did before.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: I will go back to what I said before—

Ms BARBER: Why we are not prepared to have a slow change through lobbying and talking to politicians.

Ms BIELSKI: I think 100 years is too slow for me. I have not got the time.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: I accept that. I will leave aside the outcomes for the moment. I am looking at how this changing format of asserting rights is going to improve the position of women. What I am putting to you is that you have two alternatives. You have a legislative bill of rights. You find that that does not work and therefore you have to lobby the politicians to change that to override the impact of an adverse court decision. The other alternative is that you get an adverse court decision in relation to rights and therefore you lobby politicians to change another law, maybe not in the bill of rights but an act such as the Sex Discrimination Act or some other legislation to better reflect your values. How is one form of lobbying different to the other? Why is a bill of rights going to in some form advance the position of women better than would the lobbying activities women might otherwise take?

Ms BARBER: I think we come back to what we said originally. At the moment what we have is a hodgepodge of legislation that covers different activities. Some of it is federal and some of it is state. We have affirmative action, we have EEO, CEDAW. We have a whole bunch of stuff but there are still gaps. There is no teeth in any of the legislation—large employers, political parties. It does not apply to political parties. There is a whole bunch of exemptions. If we are to lobby on all the different fronts how much energy and effort is that going to take? Properly drafted legislation should not need amending that quickly. It will certainly last our lifetime.

CHAIR: Ms Barber, arguably if there were a bill of rights interpreted by the courts you might end up with what you choose to describe as hodgepodge. The common law has sometimes been described as a myriad of single instances. Given that that is the case, how is judge-made law any less of a hodgepodge than various statutory attempts to address particular problems in society, whether it be the status of women, racial discrimination or whatever?

Ms BARBER: Maybe it is because we somehow still have faith in the legislation and the system and we hope that it will work for us rather than against us.

CHAIR: In your submission you state:

Australians and New South Wales citizens cannot leave protection of human rights to the ephemeral or vote catching whims of politicians.

Ms BARBER: That is right.

CHAIR: That seems to indicate that you do not have a particularly high regard for politicians. If I am right about that, why would you have any higher regard for judges who, whatever their independent status might be and however well-educated they might be, cannot be said to be either elected by the people or answerable to them?

Ms BIELSKI: The whole point of being a judge is that you are not answerable to the Parliament or to the people; you are there to adjudicate. Because they have tenure they do not have to be frightened of the result. We may get some adverse findings which may require us to look at the Act again. For instance, discrimination on the ground of marital status can apply to men as well, if there was an adverse effect or whatever happens to them. I think the lawyers tend to be looking at human rights issues and they have the leisure to do so. Politicians have to make their decisions in the light of their party's policies and the pressures on them at the time. They have to listen to the majority rather than the minorities.

I have been scandalised as to how the parties are pandering to the Hanson vote. Hanson targeted migrants and Aboriginals. Consequently, both sides of the Federal Parliament are treading so carefully around these issues so that they do not alienate voters and so that they attract back the Hanson voters. That is sad in my opinion. They did nothing to educate these people. Hanson targeted the weak. She targeted the people who are victims of our society. Consequently, we have migrants and refugees locked up. We have amendments to the Federal land rights Act all because politicians are looking at the next election. I believe that we need our rights in law. We need to be able to go to the courts. The courts may not be perfect, but they do not have the pressures that politicians have. I understand that politicians have got to survive; therefore we need an alternative source for appeal.

CHAIR: What I am putting to you is that at least the Legislature is a democratic institution. It is democratically elected and it is answerable to the people. I put it to you that it is not unknown for there to have been in past years highly controversial decisions by judges in various cases affecting women, particularly rape cases. There has been an uproar sometimes as a result of some decisions that have been taken. Now there is no recourse there, by way of lobbying the judge or anything like that, except that there might be an appeal in a given case if the judge has made a mistake on a point of law. Do you follow what I am putting to you? It is not necessarily a panacea to transfer everything to the judiciary. Here, judges are not elected as are the State judges in the United States. So you do not have the same right to approach them or to hold them accountable as you do politicians, whatever politicians' faults might be.

Ms BIELSKI: I appreciate that you might feel offended because we have made a remark about politicians, but they are under pressures that the judges are not. Judges do make mistakes. There is no such thing as a perfect system but we have to go for broke and hope that we get good results. You cannot guarantee good results I do not believe in any aspect of human life.

CHAIR: It is not a question of offence at all. We are inquiring into whether this State ought to have a statutory bill of rights. We are entitled, in pursuance of that inquiry, to ask ourselves, you and any other witnesses who appear before us, before we rush into any new system, as to whether it will advance the interests of the people of New South Wales. So what I am putting to you has nothing to do with our status as politicians; it is a question of whether it is desirable to have a bill of rights that will be interpreted by the courts on an individual case-by-case basis and what will happen—as the Hon. J. Hatzistergos was putting to you—when they, the judiciary, bring down a decision in an individual case that you do not find attractive.

Ms BIELSKI: As I said, I think we have to accept that there will not always be outcomes that we would like. But I think you would all accept that there are pressures on politicians that affect their decisions. I think they would be in a position to be generous to put forward a bill of rights which puts a lot of things outside their day-to-day considerations, in the sense that once it is in a bill of rights it may remove some of the pressures that presently are put upon them to make decisions for certain groups and things like that.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: Is not one of the pressures that politicians are under the fact that half the electorate, or at least 52 per cent of it, are women. Is that a pressure that politicians have to respond to in their decision-making?

Ms BIELSKI: Yes, I am not denying that.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: You are not in the same numerical category as Aboriginals for example.

Ms BIELSKI: I put it to you that 50 per cent are presently unrepresented. Therefore, we have to pressure and lobby you because we have no other source to get change. I should not say "no other source", but we do not have what is called critical mass in the Parliament. Farmers are represented in the Parliament, business is represented and lawyers are represented. There are people there from all sorts of occupations that can bring matters of concern to their profession, their organisation, their way of life to the Parliament. I think women in this Parliament have only demonstrated their interest in women's issues over the abortion debate some years ago.

CHAIR: I put this to you in regard to judges. Judges are overwhelmingly still male, Anglo-Celtic, private school educated. As that is the case, how do you argue that you are likely to get a better deal from the judiciary, given that they are less representative of Australian society than are politicians?

Ms BARBER: Because the bill of rights will direct them that way. At the moment, under common law, what they are doing is building on the previous cases that were heard, and on the different pieces of legislation. This is changing.

CHAIR: When you say "direct", a bill of rights would contain, in a typical case, a generalised statement as to what a right is.

Ms BARBER: Yes.

CHAIR: One of the difficulties with a legislated bill of rights is that the judiciary has to determine in an individual case what the words mean when applied to a particular situation. Do you agree with that?

Ms BARBER: But at least now, under a bill of rights, equal human rights would have to be considered because that would be the direction of the legislation. At the moment that is not so and it is whatever society at this point in time determines are women's rights, which may be different from male rights.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: It would be fair to say that in order for the judges to get into a position where they might make the decision which you say a bill of rights would direct them to, it would be necessary, first, for a case to arise.

Ms BARBER: Yes.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: Then it is necessary for someone with resources and energy to take that case through all the various stages of the court. Is it not possible that, if human rights are fundamentally protected by a bill and a judicial system, the people whose rights are likely to get the best protection are not likely to be disadvantaged minorities? They are more likely to be people who have access to the courts?

Ms BARBER: But the same is true now. So you are saying: What would be different with a bill of rights? The difference between a bill of rights is the mere fact of its introduction. That has to change the way people think about human rights. The same applies to affirmative action and to the EEO legislation. The mere fact of it being there, and having to report to Parliament or to make comment on it, the mere fact of its existence will change the way people think. It must do.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: I guess that your primary interest in making a submission to this Committee as the Women's Electoral Lobby will be matters about which women are particularly concerned. Your biggest beef about the current system is the speed with which these issues are addressed. How can you demonstrate to us that those issues about which you are concerned are likely to be addressed more quickly and more readily than pieces of legislation such as the Anti-Discrimination Act?

Ms BIELSKI: The Anti-Discrimination Act at the moment has something like a three-year wait, just like all the other courts, I gather because of a lack of funding. So if any one of you can do something about that, you will be cheering us up. Both Mr Dyer and you spoke about individuals. I would hope that any bill of rights would have a possibility of class action in it so that groups of people can take it. I realise that the powerful have access to the courts more frequently and more easily than those who are not powerful, but the powerless can often match that power with numbers. That is why I would hope that a bill of rights would allow classes of people to approach the courts.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: Do you think that a statutory bill of rights poses any threat to the pursuing of issues of concern to women? For example, the Premier, Bob Carr, said that a bill of rights, like the New Zealand bill of rights, gives lawyers a new source of technicalities to allow criminals to go free. In the area of crime, particularly violent crime, it is overwhelmingly committed by males. In many instances—and I do not no know whether or not it is a majority—the victims are females. Do you believe that this bill of rights might put a class of women who need protection at some threat?

Ms BARBER: How?

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: The victims who are seeking justice will have to overcome another hurdle when dealing with the criminal justice system in order to get justice. I know that you focused on areas such as the provision of financial assistance to various minorities and so on, but another group of people who are seeking rights are women who have been violated by men through criminal or violent means. A bill of rights could represent a further hurdle to women in that circumstance seeking to obtain justice from the criminal justice system. Do you do you see that as a potential threat which needs to be countered if a bill of rights were introduced?

Ms BARBER: If you are saying that the human rights of the perpetrator might take a higher priority over the person who has been damaged by whatever action he has taken, I do not see how legislation can do that any more than what we have got at the moment. I know that this argument about parents' rights, for instance, over custody, access and determination is going one way or the other. But I would not see a bill of rights helping a male—and we will call them males because they generally are males—to pursue his violent ends.

CHAIR: Could I clarify for you what Mr Ryan is putting to you? The International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, if incorporated into a bill of rights here, would contain arguably various rights that would be applicable to a criminal trial such as the right to a speedy trial or the right to a fair trial. Taking the right to a speedy trial as an example, let us suppose that someone is kept languishing in prison for, shall we say, 12 months or more and that the bill of right states that you are entitled to a speedy trial. Let us suppose further that that prisoner takes an action under the bill of rights and states that he has been denied his right to a speedy trial. Suppose further that a judge, upon hearing that application, states, "Yes, this is unfair. You have been waiting too long. This is an absolute disgrace to the criminal justice system. We are going to discharge you because you've been in gaol 12 months already"? The Hon. J. F. Ryan is suggesting that in such a case—and that is only one example—someone who arguably has committed a criminal offence against, say, a woman goes free. Is that not at least possible?

Ms BIELSKI: It is possible but it sounds like a fairly ineffective justice system that allows that to happen. That would be negligence on the part of the police. Surely they would be watching that. The courts should be bringing cases to court in time.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: The Hon. R. D. Dyer has perhaps given a more dramatic example. The bread and butter of this problem is not so much allowing criminals to go free but making it more complex to bring a criminal to justice. Under those circumstances, particularly for crimes where women are required to remember the incident for a long period of time and maintain their determination rather than go on with the rest of their lives, complicating the issue may mean that victims give up. According to the Premier, that is one complication which a bill of rights may introduce into the criminal justice system. Do you see that as a threat if a bill of rights were introduced? Do you consider that something has to be done to ensure that it does not become a realistic threat because overwhelmingly the people who will be affected by that threat will be women?

Ms BIELSKI: Women are currently, shall we say, upset by the fact that some cases of violence against women take so long to get to court. Having it speeded up, as Mr Dyer said, may well help women to get over the trauma of these events. It is six of one and half a dozen of the other.

Ms BARBER: Whoever has been damaged by a violent action—and it is equally males beating up on males was as much as males beating up on females—would be angry and upset if the perpetrator were allowed to walk free because be system, the administration, had been too lax to bring the offender to justice earlier. It applies equally to everyone, not just to women. Yes, I would be horrified if a person were allowed to go free because he had been in gaol for such a long time and had not been dealt with by the courts. But I do not really see that as a feminist issue or a bill of rights issue. I see that as a system issue that needs to be taken care of in another way, rather than saying "Let us not have a bill of rights because this may happen."

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: It is a problem for this Committee. For example, Evan Whitton, a journalist, in a recently published book called The Cartel, Lawyers and Their Nine Magic Tricks, says authoritatively, and quotes references, that only 20 per cent of serious criminals who go to trial are convicted and that all the rest go free for technical reasons, lack of evidence, or whatever.

Ms BARBER: Or lots of money.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: The problem that the Committee faces is that an argument has been canvassed, which the Hon. J. F. Ryan referred to, that a bill of rights would provide more opportunities for criminals to go free. In Evan Whitton's words—which he wrote to me on a Christmas card—with a bill of rights the number of criminals who will go free will go from 80 per cent to 90 per cent. This is an issue that we have to deal with. I am note sure whether or not it is an issue for the Women's Electoral Lobby or Women in Politics.

Ms BARBER: Is it not a social human rights issue? If at the moment 80 per cent of people who are called criminals or who have acted illegally are going free, that suggests that the current legislation cannot be working appropriately. So why would a bill of rights make it work? Would not putting in a bill of rights, if we are talking about human rights, somehow overcome that? Is it not in the drafting of it?

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: I have a view about that. It would place obligations on judges to make sure that to the trials go ahead when they are supposed to go ahead and also impose obligations on the Parliament to provide adequate resources. The issue in relation to the Women's Electoral Lobby and Women in Politics that I am concerned about, and the Hon. J. Hatzistergos alluded to, is that if women are such a large proportion of the community—

Ms BARBER: And we are.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: —is it appropriate that a group with such large representation should have the benefit of a provision in the bill of rights requiring affirmative action in favour of women? Aboriginal people can promote the argument on the basis that they are such a small group and that minorities are protected by a bill of rights legislation. Is it also the fact that women in this context are a minority and, if so, can you explain it to us?

Ms BIELSKI: If you look at practically every statistic on economic and social wellbeing, women are less advantaged then men. They do not have a say in the decision-making institutions of the country, in the big corporations, in local government or in the judiciary, as we have mentioned. Therefore, there is a need for legislation to be directive and allow for those areas where women are disadvantaged. You mentioned violence, and women are the subjects of violence. There needs to be something in the legislation that permits them to pursue their rights against the powerful.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: Correct me if I am wrong, but I do not think that women are mentioned in particular in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights or in the International Covenant of Civil and Political Rights.

Ms BIELSKI: No, they were left out and women—Jessie Street, I think, and people like that—had to lobby to get even the United Nations to do something.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: Women certainly have rights in respect of the Convention for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination [CERD] treaty. However, the problem is that the human rights principles we are looking at in this inquiry relate to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights which, regrettably, does not specifically nominate women as a minority. If we are to include women in our bill we need to have evidence as to why they should be included over and above what is in the covenant.

Ms BIELSKI: You say that you are restricted to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and a bill of rights. Women do not accept that the bill of rights stops with civil and political rights. That is our problem and your problem.
Ms BARBER: It would be very easy to bring along a whole bunch of statistics to say how women have been under-represented.

Ms BIELSKI: Articles 7 and 8 of CEDAW talk about women's political rights.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: How would a bill of rights improve women's representation in the Parliament?

Ms BIELSKI: The interparliamentary union said that the problem with women's representation was that the political parties have not carried out the same sort of institutional revision of their practices, policies, et cetera, that they have legislated for everybody else. There has been affirmative action in every department of government, in business organisations, et cetera, but political parties, even though they are publicly funded, are run as private organisations.

CHAIR: I would have thought that representation of women in Parliament is far greater than that of women in the upper echelons of business in Australia.

Ms BIELSKI: It is better than representation in the upper echelons of business, but business to some extent is divided into segments whereas Parliament has an overview. Political parties have a very low membership and very great power. I understand that political parties have a declining membership and a lack of public participation in their activities. But once they are elected they have very great power. It is important that women are represented, otherwise that power can be used to advantage the powerful in society.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: How would a bill of rights improve an issue such as the representation of women in Parliament?

Ms BIELSKI: That is not what we are particularly addressing today, is it? I would suggest that if the bill of rights took notice of CEDAW articles 7 and 8, it could direct political parties to some extent. Political parties are now apparently virtually outside the law, according to what I have read. There is no regulation of them. It may well be that they need to be brought under the regulation of the law, as are other voluntary associations.

Ms BARBER: Like aspects of preselection—women being available and being encouraged to stand for preselection and actually gaining preselection. Until we start that very basic step, we are not going to get more women into Parliament.

Ms BIELSKI: The culture of politics has not been changed by affirmative action, as most other institutions have. I am offended at least once a month by some people talking about a seat being Mr so-and-so's seat, as though he owned it or when there is a preselection they say "That is so-and-so's seat." That is the culture of politics. They do not say "It is the seat of Parramatta that is being contested", they say "It is so-and-so's seat". It is the language and culture of politics. The inclusion of CEDAW articles 7 and 8 in civil and political rights, which would not be unreasonable, or something to facilitate that would change it dramatically. It could make a difference to women's political position. But we are talking here about other rights too. We just want to say that if a bill of rights does occur we do not want it to wipe out the rights that we have. We want those rights against discrimination included as a civil right.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: Looking at countries that have a  bill of rights, such as the United States of America, United Kingdom and New Zealand—

Ms BARBER: Malaysia.

Ms BIELSKI: We could look at the bill of rights in Canada, New Zealand and the United Kingdom.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: In which of those countries has women participation in politics been facilitated by the bill of rights?

Ms BIELSKI: None that I know of. We have not studied them. You are asking us to set a precedent. We are putting our hopes on the board.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: I am just trying to work out how a bill of rights will necessarily advance the situation.

Ms BIELSKI: If you are going to confine it just to civil and political rights and whether economic social and cultural rights, group rights and the rights of indigenous people should be in the bill of rights, I think it could be expressed. The lawyers will find a way to include it.

Ms BARBER: We are talking about changing the culture. Culture change does not happen necessarily that fast. Look how long the Women's Electoral Lobby has been working—28 or 29 years. In the bad old days women had to have a male guarantor if they wanted a bank loan. If they were in the public service and got married they had to resign. All of that is yesterday. But we still have organisations that need maternity leave provisions. All of this has made a social change. But it is still all focused on parenting rights—it is still a mother's responsibility to raise a child—rather than having equal rights. This social change is really slow. We cannot expect a bill of rights to be introduced and overnight people will change. But the mere fact of its introduction will have people thinking about their rights and obligations in a different way. That is what we are proposing, not just a bland bill of rights. We want women mentioned specifically, as well as indigenous people.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: Where would you place religious rights in a bill of rights?

Ms BIELSKI: I think religion has to be like political parties, and dealt with under some law. I do not see why they should be able to override people's rights without question.

Ms BARBER: Freedom from religion, as in the Constitution.

CHAIR: Take the issue of women priests. You are arguing that a bill of rights should affect the private area as well as individuals and governments. In the instance of the Catholic Church or the Anglican Church in the diocese of Sydney, both say that women should not be ordained to the priesthood. I might interpolate that I have no problem myself with women being priests, but if there were to be reliance on such a provision, do you think that is a justified exercise of a bill of rights provision?

Ms BARBER: I think it would be brilliant, but I do not think you could ask that a bill of rights should do that.

CHAIR: Why would it be brilliant? Do not people who belong to a church voluntarily accept its teachings?

Ms BARBER: Again, we are coming down to interpretation.

Ms BIELSKI: It is where religions affect people outside their religions that we would be concerned about. Religions can exercise power over institutions other than their own. How a bill of rights could deal with that, I do not know. Often, they exercise undue power. I would like to put on the record here that Senator Harradine has been very influential in restricting women's rights through the Parliament, in the sense that he has been persuasive in lobbying the Federal Government not to finance organisations that promote family planning and abortion abroad. He has been involved in anti-abortion debates. There was a world population conference in Cairo, which he attended as a member of an Australian delegation but on which he sat with the Vatican delegation. I think that is outrageous. He wears his Catholicism on his sleeve. I am a product of the Catholic Church, but I do not see any reason why it should have any more influence over social issues than people who are not members of religious bodies. I do not know whether I have answered your question. I might have gone off on a tangent.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: You have partly. Leave aside the question of vocations within churches, which I think the Chairman raised. I am looking at other issues that may impact on women and how religion is to be reconciled with women's rights.

Ms BIELSKI: I do not know whether you can reconcile them, but you may be able to restrain them.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: Let me give you the example of women's dress. Some religions have a view about the way in which women in particular should dress.

Ms BARBER: But that is a culture as much as a religion.

Ms BIELSKI: I have a problem that some religions in this country are very anti-women. A lot of women have grave misgivings about the future should certain religions become very influential, because those religions may well want to impose their point of view on women in general. One particular foreign language newspaper, which I will not name, carried an article that expressed the view that because of the way Australian women dress they are whores. That was, I think, a product of culture or of religion. Some religions are quite hostile. I find it offensive that men must walk ahead with the women walking behind them and carrying the bundles. On the grounds of humanity, I believe refugees should be allowed into countries. I am not arguing against that at all. But I do argue that that may present some problems for women down the track, and therefore religions need to be brought under our law so that religion cannot be imposed on other people, and other women in particular.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: Following on from that: Do you believe that the bill of rights should be drafted to reflect that fact?

Ms BARBER: If possible.

Ms BIELSKI: Yes, if possible. Then the issues have to be arbitrated by the courts. It will not be satisfactory, probably, to either party, but at least that would restrain excesses.

CHAIR: Don't you think that if a judge brought down a decision that inflamed the sensibilities, rightly or wrongly, of a particular ethnic group in our society that that issue would end up back here in Macquarie Street for the Parliament to sort out?

Ms BIELSKI: You mean if they lobbied to have women fully covered so we would not inflame the populous? Oh dear!

CHAIR: No. Supposing a judge arrived at a decision in an individual case on women's dress in an ethnic community and that decision inflamed religious opinion within that community—and I may very well agree with what you have been saying—do you really think that would not end up here in Macquarie Street? Do you think it would end with Judge X in the District Court?

Ms BIELSKI: I think it would go to appeal and probably eventually end up in the High Court. For instance, women are very good at conducting a whip-around to raise money. There was a case in Victoria from which the Catholic Church immediately withdrew once the Women's Electoral Lobby opposed it and found the money to do so. We may well have that sort of issue going forward.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: Think that the problem that the Chairman is referring to is that if we had a bill of rights, and if the only place to put this provision in support of women would be in the right to equality section, if the provision said "All people shall be treated equally" and it went on to say that women shall be treated in the same way as men, or some appropriate way like that, that could result in a court case and a group from a particular ethnic community saying, "Our women are not being treated like this, and we are going to argue our right under the bill of rights," and they could bring a court case that could create a furore in that community, particularly if they won the case.

Ms BIELSKI: I think it is a risk we have to take. Legislation on the books, at least to some extent, has the effect of raising consciousness. They will be employing lawyers who will point out to them the problems they face and the hostility that that will arouse. So it is give and take.

CHAIR: What I am putting to you is that it would end up as a political question. If the sensibilities of a particular ethnic community were sufficiently outraged, rightly or wrongly, by a judge's decision, they would be marching on Macquarie Street, they would not be marching on the judge.

Ms BIELSKI: We would march from the other end.

Ms BARBER: What else is new!

Ms BIELSKI: I haven't had a good march lately!

Ms BARBER: But it is social change, and everyone will respond to that in a different way.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: The other problem is that there is no precedent in any other bill of rights in any country in the world that I am aware of that says women should be treated equally with men.

Ms BIELSKI: I know. We think that is an omission. We do not agree with the dictionary definition that "he = she". It will never work that way. I think the Australian culture is that if it moves shoot it, if its stands still cut it down, and if it is female ignore it. I am being facetious.

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: I am not sure it is quite like that.

Ms BIELSKI: It has been, if it is not now.

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: Is that your quote?

Ms BIELSKI: It is mine.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: You would agree that changes have been made and, in God help us, they have been made through the inefficient and —

The Hon. J. HATZISTERGOS: Male dominated.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: Yes, male dominated and odd processes of the New South Wales Parliament and other legislatures.

Ms BIELSKI: Exactly. We have to lobby for it. What I am saying is that we want rights, not gifts from powerful men.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: But progress is being made under the normal processes of parliamentary democracy.

Ms BIELSKI: Yes, we acknowledge that.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: It would appear that that progress has been more rapid lately than has previously been the case. I am not sure that I yet understand how it would be faster if we abrogated the culture of parliamentary democracy and political lobbying for one of litigation in the courts. I am not sure how that would necessarily result in something happening faster.

Ms BARBER: But you are suggesting that that is the way change would occur, through litigation.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: Mr Carr said that having a bill of rights in New South Wales would change us from having a culture of democratic lobbying to one of contentious litigation.

Ms BARBER: It could. But, equally, I think on the same day that Mr Carr made that statement to the Committee someone from the Law Society, whose title I am uncertain of —

The Hon. P. J. BREEN: The President.

Ms BARBER: — also came out and said that that was more or less rubbish, that it would not necessarily happen that way, that it may not make us a more litigious society. So it is a matter of one opinion against another.

Ms BIELSKI: If something is law, it restrains people. If there were not a law against murder, there may well be more murders because we would be free to commit murder. The law has a restraining and educating effect. People consult their lawyers and discover that they cannot do certain things, or it becomes part of the culture that one cannot do certain things. The law is instrumental in promoting change as well as in prohibiting certain events. The anti-discrimination legislation has changed opinions. It has not prevented discrimination, but it has inhibited events of discrimination. If we believe in the rule of law, we have to believe in improving it, I would suggest. It is not beyond the ingenuity of lawyers to pioneer a new form of human rights legislation than we have previously had and make it work.

The Hon. J. F. RYAN: Some people have argued that the scheme outlined by the Anti-Discrimination Act, which largely involves all sorts of mechanisms that are not necessarily expensive and legalistic, have been more effective in changing public opinion and extending rights to ethnic minorities, women, and people discriminated against on the basis of sexual preference, is better and more efficient than a wigs and gowns performance in the High Court generated by a bill of rights. Some would say that we already have a bill of rights, particularly pertaining to the issue of women. It exists in the Anti-Discrimination Act, and the quasi legal mechanisms that exist there have been more efficient in changing public opinion than more expensive forms of litigation that would be bound to be part of having a culture encouraged by a bill of rights.

Ms BIELSKI: In paragraph 2 of our submission we note our support for a bill of rights provided it ensures women's rights. We are not saying we support a bill of rights absolutely. Our support is qualified. We do not want it to knock out what we have got. I think that is the basis of our main point. Secondly, there was a meeting of the Women's Constitutional Convention in Canada in January 1998 attended by 180 women, and that was exactly their position: They want a bill of rights provided it does not abrogate the rights they already have in law. That is why we mentioned articles 4, 7 and 8 of CEDAW. Article 4 allows for temporary measures to ensure substantive rights, and the other two articles are about political rights.

So the bill of rights, if it is not to get rid of what we already have, would have to be very carefully drawn. You did ask us other questions, and we answered those questions, but that is the one part that we want the Committee to take note of. We do not want a bill of rights that can be construed as removing some of our rights. We would like a bill of rights that constrains some people who at present discriminate against women in the name of religion or some other public good that they see, but which we do not see.

Not all women will agree with us but I was one of the people who lobbied this Parliament for the New South Wales Anti-Discrimination Act and I am gratified if that is what people say about the Act. We recognise it would not get rid of all discrimination but it would inhibit discrimination and facilitate change. We are grateful that it did, but we do not believe that other things have to stop. Women have done so much lobbying, they are so tired.

Ms BARBER: We want some help from the legislation.

Ms BIELSKI: And the legislators.

(The witnesses withdrew)

(The Committee adjourned at 1:16 p.m.)
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